

Oñati Socio-legal Series, v. 7, n. 3 (2017) – The Place of Apology in Law ISSN: 2079-5971

An Empirical Note on Perceptions of Partial Apologies

MANDEEP K. DHAMI*

Dhami, M., 2017. An Empirical Note on Perceptions of Partial Apologies. *Oñati Socio-legal Series* [online], 7 (3), 408-420. Available from: <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3029093</u>



Abstract

This study examined perceptions of partial apologies. Eighty young people rated the extent to which five components of apology (i.e., accepting responsibility, acknowledging harm, expressing remorse, offering reparation, and promising forbearance) implied each other. Statistical analyses across different types of partial apologies showed no significant differences in the extent to which a particular uncommunicated component of apology was implied by one type of partial apology than another. Analyses within each type of partial apology revealed significant differences in the extent to a partial apology implied one type of uncommunicated component than another: Acknowledging harm or offering reparation implied promising forbearance to a lesser extent than accepting responsibility and expressing remorse. Expressing remorse or promising forbearance implied accepting responsibility to a greater extent than acknowledging harm and offering reparation. It is important to understand perceptions of partial apologies because they are more prevalent than full apologies, and may be considered less effective.

Key words

Apology; victim-offender mediation; restorative justice; remorse

Resumen

Este estudio analizó las percepciones de las disculpas parciales. Ochenta jóvenes evaluaron hasta qué punto cinco componentes de las disculpas (esto es, aceptar la responsabilidad, reconocer el daño causado, expresar remordimiento, ofrecer reparación y promesa de restricción) estaban implícitas entre sí. Análisis estadísticos entre diferentes tipos de disculpas parciales no mostraron diferencias significativas en la medida en la que un componente de la disculpa no expresado estaba implícito en un tipo de disculpa parcial u otro. Análisis de cada tipo de disculpa parcial revelaron diferencias significativas en cuanto hasta qué punto una disculpa parcial implicaba un tipo de componente no comunicado u otro: reconocer el daño causado u ofrecer reparación implicaban una promesa de restricción en

^{*} Mandeep K. Dhami, PhD, is Professor of Decision Psychology at Middlesex University, London, UK. She holds graduate degrees in Psychology and Criminology. Mandeep's research interests include decision-making in the criminal justice system. In 2002, she helped establish a Restorative Justice Program in the City of Victoria (Canada). Department of Psychology. Middlesex University. The Burroughs, Hendon. London. UK, NW4 4BT. m.dhami@mdx.ac.uk



The research presented in this paper was funded by a British Academy grant to the author. I would like to thank Karen Souza for her research assistance.

menor medida que aceptar la responsabilidad y expresar remordimiento. Expresar remordimiento o prometer restricción implicaban aceptar la responsabilidad en mayor medida que reconocer el daño y ofrecer reparación. Es importante entender las percepciones de las disculpas parciales, ya que prevalecen sobre una disculpa completa, y pueden considerarse menos efectivas.

Palabras clave

Apology, victim-offender mediation, restorative justice, remorse, Disculpas, mediación entre víctima y victimario, justicia restaurativa, arrepentimiento

Table of contents

1. An empirical note on the components of apology4	11
2. The present study4	12
3. Method	13
3.1. Participants	13
3.2. Design	13
3.3. Stimuli and measures	13
3.4. Procedure	14
4. Analyses and results	14
4.1. Is an uncommunicated component of apology implied more by one	
type of partial apology than another?4	15
4.2. Does a partial apology imply one type of uncommunicated component	
of apology more than another?4	15
5. Discussion	
5.1. Strengths, limitations and directions for future research	17
References	

1. An empirical note on the components of apology

The offer of an apology is a remedial action that ultimately aims to resolve conflict and re-establish social harmony. Apologies may be public or private and offered by collectives or individuals (e.g., Fuchs-Burnett 2002, Govier and Verwoerd 2002, Alberstein, *et al.* 2007). Although apologies may be used in (criminal and civil) legal settings, they tend to be more common in alternative dispute resolution (e.g., Levi 1997, Tyler 1997, Taft 2000, Latif 2001, O'Hara and Yarn 2002, Petrucci 2002, Allan 2008). Here, conflicting parties are brought together voluntarily to engage in a dialogue during which they can negotiate a mutually agreeable resolution. This provides one (or both) parties an opportunity to apologize in addition to offering compensation or reparation. In fact, in the criminal justice context, apology is considered a key mechanism by which victim-offender mediation, a form of restorative justice, operates (e.g., Sherman *et al.* 2005, Shapland *et al.* 2007, Blecher 2011, Dhami 2012, 2016, see also Poulson 2003).

Past research, primarily in social psychology, has found that an apology may have numerous beneficial effects on the thoughts, feelings and behaviors of those receiving it (or even simply observing it). For instance, the offer of an apology can improve perceptions of the apologizer and wrongful act (e.g., Ohbuchi et al. 1989, Scher and Darley 1997, Gold and Weiner 2000, Bornstein et al. 2002, Hodgins and Liebeskind 2003, Robbennolt 2003, Risen and Gilovich 2007). An apology can also enhance perceptions of the prospect of conflicting parties reconciling (e.g., Scher and Darley 1997, Hodgins and Liebeskind 2003, Robbennolt 2003, Tomlinson et al. 2004, Risen and Gilovich 2007). Apologies can affect the receiver's positive and negative emotions (e.g., Ohbuchi et al. 1989, Bennett and Earwaker 1994, Fukuno and Ohbuchi 1998, Robbennolt 2003), and advance the healing process (e.g., Ohbuchi et al. 1989, Robbennolt 2003), as well as increase satisfaction with mediation practices (e.g., Dhami 2012). Finally, from a behavioral standpoint, the offer of an apology can reduce the desire to punish the offender (e.g., Ohbuchi et al. 1989, McCullough et al. 1997, Gold and Weiner 2000, Bornstein et al. 2002, Hodgins and Liebeskind 2003, Skarlicki et al. 2004, Risen and Gilovich 2007, Wooten 2009). An apology can also increase the receiver's desire to accept a settlement (e.g., Robbennolt 2003, Skarlicki et al. 2004).

But, what constitutes an apology? And, what does an apology mean?

Beyond, the simple "I'm sorry", apologies may be full (also called sincere or genuine) or partial. Legal and sociological commentators have attempted to delineate the facets of a full apology. For instance, it is argued that an apology is an expression of regret or remorse (Tavuchis 1991) as well as an admission of wrongdoing, acceptance of responsibility for the wrongful act, and offer of compensation or reparation (Taft 2000). According to Goffman (1971, p. 113), "In its fullest form, the apology has several elements: expression of embarrassment and chagrin; clarification that one knows what conduct has been expected and sympathizes with the application of negative sanction; verbal rejection, repudiation, and disavowal of the wrong way of behaving along with vilification of the self that so behaved; espousal of the right way and an avowal henceforth to pursue that course; performance of penance and the volunteering of restitution."

Social psychologists and those conducting empirical legal studies who have explored the nature of apology from an empirical stance, suggest that a full apology generally involves five components (e.g., Schlenker and Darby 1981, Scher and Darley 1997, Landman 2001, Robbennolt 2003, Schmitt *et al.* 2004, Risen and Gilovich 2007, Choi and Severson 2009, Fehr and Gelfand 2010, Pace *et al.* 2010, Slocum *et al.* 2011, Dhami 2012). These are: (1) an acceptance of responsibility for the wrongful behavior and harmful outcomes; (2) an acknowledgement of the harm done and that it was wrong; (3) an expression of regret or remorse for the harm done; (4) an offer to repair the harm done or make amends; and (5) a promise not

to repeat the behavior in the future (i.e., forbearance) and to work towards good relations.

Full apologies are not, however, particularly common. Meier (1992 cited in Meier 1998) found that a simple 'sorry' was one of the most common strategies used by people when apologizing, followed by partial apologies that focused on acknowledgment of harm, offer of reparation and promise of forbearance. Even in the context of victim-offender mediation, partial apologies are more likely than full apologies. For instance, it can be inferred from Blecher's (2011) commentary on previous research on victim-offender mediation cases involving juveniles, in Australia, that an apology was offered in around two-thirds of cases. These were not necessarily full apologies, and the acceptance of responsibility was more common than the expression of regret and promise of forbearance. Dhami (2012) analysed the records of cases that had undergone mediation in one of the oldest mediation centres in Europe, and the longest running in the UK. It was revealed that a full apology containing all five components was offered in only 17% of cases. Apologies containing one component occurred in 42% of cases. In 15% of cases, the apology contained two components and in another 15% the apology contained three components. Four components were present in apologies in 6% of cases. Across all cases, the acknowledgement of harm was the most prevalent component of apology, while the promise of forbearance was the least common. The acceptance of responsibility, expression of remorse and offer of reparation were fairly equally common.

There is a small body of research suggesting that some of the components of apology may be interlinked. Using a variety of methods, these studies show that an expression of one component of apology (i.e., a partial apology) may imply communication of another component. For instance, in the aforementioned study, Dhami (2012) observed that in 30% of cases a simple "I'm sorry" was also stated in addition to one or more specific components of apology. Non-parametric statistical tests revealed that saying "I'm sorry" was associated with each of the following components: the admission of wrongdoing, expression of remorse, promise of forbearance and offer of reparation. Saying "I'm sorry", however, was not associated with the acknowledgment of harm. In a linguistic analysis of native and non-native English speakers' apology strategies, Trosborg (1987) observed that the acknowledgment of the acknowledgment of harm.

Several studies have involved the use of experimental methods where the effect of partial apologies are studied by the offer (or not) of one or more components of apology. Scher and Darley (1997) manipulated four components of apologies (i.e., the acceptance of responsibility, expression of remorse, offer of reparation and promise of forbearance). It was found that remorse was assumed when offenders accepted responsibility, offered reparation, and promised forbearance. Schmitt et al. (2004) manipulated four components of apology (i.e., accepting responsibility, acknowledging harm, expressing remorse and offering reparation). They found that when reparation was offered, it was also believed to imply the acceptance of responsibility, acknowledgment of harm, and expression of remorse. Gold and Weiner's (2000) research included a manipulation of the expression of remorse. They demonstrated that this was indirectly related to perceptions of forbearance. Robbennolt's (2003) experimental research manipulated the acceptance of responsibility and showed that this implied the expression of regret and the promise of forbearance. Finally, Risen and Gilovich (2007, Experiment 2) found that the expression of remorse was implied by a vague acceptance of responsibility.

2. The present study

While the aforementioned studies provide a combination of indirect and direct evidence for the association between different components of apology using a variety of methods, to-date, no study has systematically examined the association between each of the five specific components of apology. The present study directly addressed two questions:

(1) Is an uncommunicated component of apology implied to a greater extent by one type of partial apology than by another type of partial apology? For instance, is the expression of remorse implied to a greater extent by a partial apology comprising an acceptance of responsibility than by a partial apology comprising the acknowledgment of harm? (2) Does a partial apology imply one type of uncommunicated component of apology to a greater extent than another type of uncommunicated component of apology? For instance, does a partial apology comprising an acknowledgement of harm imply the expression of remorse to a greater extent than the promise of forbearance?

It is important to understand how people may perceive partial apologies since these are more prevalent than full apologies (e.g., Dhami 2012). The need to better understand the meaning of a partial apology is also underscored by concerns that some have about the potential ineffectiveness of such apologies (e.g., Taft 2000, Latif 2001). The present study, therefore, aims to address gaps in the literature.

3. Method

3.1. Participants

A total of eighty young people volunteered to participate in the present study.¹ Fifty-one percent were male. The average age of the sample was 19.88 (SD = 3.54). Seventy-eight percent described themselves as White, and the rest were from visible minority groups. The highest level of education completed by 26.25% of the sample was up to age 16; 55.00% had done some college/university, and 10.00% had a degree level or professional qualification. Forty-four percent of the sample were unemployed, 32.50% were employed (on either full- or part-time basis), and 20.00% were students. Fifty-eight percent of the sample said they had been a victim of crime, and 38.75% said they had been convicted of a crime. Finally, 42.50% of participants said they were aware of victim-offender mediation.

3.2. Design

A between-subjects experimental design was used to manipulate the communication of a partial apology. There were five types of partial apology as follows: acceptance of responsibility, acknowledgment of harm, expression of remorse, offer of reparation, and promise of forbearance.

3.3. Stimuli and measures

Participants responded to one of the five types of partial apology. These were presented as question stems that were followed by four items, each of which required a rating response. The question stems were all in the same format and varied only with regard to the type of partial apology offered i.e., "When someone apologizes, and [admits that they've done something wrong/ acknowledges the harm that they have caused/ feels bad for what they have done/ offers to help make things better/ promises not to do it again], to what extent do you think they also..."

The four items that followed referred to the remaining components of apology which were not included in the preceding question stem. For instance, if the question stem included the following partial apology "admits that they've done something wrong", then the four items were the following components of apology:

¹ A statistical power calculation suggested that a sample size of 16 in each of the five groups (i.e., a total sample of 80) would be sufficient to detect an effect, using a repeated measures ANOVA with four measures from one group and an alpha level of .05.

"acknowledge the harm that they caused", "feel bad for what they have done", "offer to help make things better", and "promise not to do it again".

Responses to each item were provided on a 9-point rating scale, anchored at each end from 1 = "not at all" to 9 = "completely."

3.4. Procedure

Data were collected by a trained research assistant and the author. In order to attract a diverse sample, participants were recruited from a YMCA and dance club located in a UK city. Participation was voluntary and anonymous. Data were collected from participants individually at the venue where they were recruited. Participants were randomly assigned to one of the five question stems. The order of the items following the question stem was randomized. The experiment took participants approximately 10 minutes to complete.

4. Analyses and results

Table 1 presents the means and standard deviations of participants' responses to the questions asking about the extent to which each type of partial apology also implied the four other components of apology. The analyses and results are presented below in relation to each of the two aims of the study.

Table 1. Means and Standard Deviations of the Extent to Which a Partial
Apology Implies Other of Components of Apology

	•			
Partial	Apology			
Component	М	SD		
	Accept r	Accept responsibility		
Acknowledge harm	7.13	1.89		
Express remorse	7.06	1.81		
Offer reparation	6.50	2.25		
Promise forbearance	6.75	2.49		
	Acknowledge harm			
Accept responsibility	7.53	2.17		
Express remorse	6.97	2.00		
Offer reparation	6.22	2.14		
Promise forbearance	5.97	1.94		
	Express	Express remorse		
Accept responsibility	7.06	1.69		
Acknowledge harm	6.00	1.71		
Offer reparation	5.56	1.82		
Promise forbearance	5.94	2.08		
	Offer reparation			
Accept responsibility	7.13	2.25		
Acknowledge harm	7.06	2.29		
Express remorse	7.00	2.61		
Promise forbearance	5.25	2.89		
	Promise	Promise forbearance		
Accept responsibility	6.94	1.77		
Acknowledge harm	6.06	1.77		
Express remorse	5.44	1.75		
Offer reparation	5.25	2.35		

4.1. Is an uncommunicated component of apology implied more by one type of partial apology than another?

One-way ANOVAs were computed to answer this question. Type of partial apology was the between-subjects factor with five levels, and ratings of the extent to which this implied the four uncommunicated components of apology were the dependent measures. These analyses indicated that there were no significant differences in the extent to which each uncommunicated component of apology was implied by each type of partial apology (for a partial apology comprising acceptance of responsibility: F[3, 63] = 0.27, p = .848, for acknowledgement of harm: F[3, 63] = 1.62, p = .194, for expression of remorse: F[3, 63] = 2.32, p = .085, for offer of reparation: F[3, 63] = 1.15, p = .336, and for promise of forbearance: F[3, 63] = 1.06, p = .371).

4.2. Does a partial apology imply one type of uncommunicated component of apology more than another?

Two sets of analyses were conducted to answer this question. First, repeated measures ANOVAs were computed for each type of partial apology. The dependent measures referred to the four uncommunicated components of apology. The second set of analyses were post hoc tests (i.e., pairwise *t*-tests) that were used to explore any statistically significant effects. These tests compared mean differences in the extent to which pairs of uncommunicated components of apology were implied by a type of partial apology.

It was found that there was a statistically significant effect of a partial apology when it comprised: acknowledgement of harm (F [3, 45] = 4.06, p = .012, partial eta² = .21), expression of remorse (F [3, 45] = 3.15, p = .034, partial eta² = .17), offer of reparation (F [3, 52] = 4.85, p = .005, partial eta² = .24), and promise of forbearance, F (3, 45) = 5.12, p = .004, partial eta² = .25. There was no statistically significant effect of a partial apology comprising acceptance of responsibility, F (3, 45) = 0.63, p = .597, partial eta² = .04.

The posthoc tests revealed that when a partial apology involved an acknowledgment of harm, the extent to which it implied promising forbearance was significantly less than the extent to which it implied accepting responsibility (t[15] = 2.94, p = .010, see Table 1) or showing remorse, (t[15] = 2.58, p = .021, see Table 1).There were no other statistically significant differences in the extent to which a partial apology involving an acknowledgment of harm implied other components of apology compared to each other, ps > .05.

A partial apology involving an expression of remorse implied accepting responsibility to a significantly greater extent than either acknowledging harm (t[15] = 3.78, p = 002, see Table 1) or offering reparation (t[15] = 4.24, p = .001, see Table 1). There were no other significant differences, ps > .05.

As Table 1 shows, when a partial apology involved an offer of reparation, it implied promising forbearance to a significantly less extent than accepting responsibility (t[15] = 2.77, p = .014), acknowledging harm (t[15] = 2.99, p = .001), or showing remorse, t(15) = 3.17, p = .006. No other significant differences were observed, *p*s > .05.

Finally, as Table 1 shows, a partial apology involving a promise of forbearance implied accepting responsibility to a significantly greater extent than acknowledging harm (t[15] = 2.27, p = .039), showing remorse (t[15] = 3.87, p = .002), and offering reparation, t(15) = 2.83, p = .013. There were no other significant differences, ps > .05.

5. Discussion

Apologies can be powerful tools in conflict resolution (e.g., Robbennolt 2003, Skarlicki *et al.* 2004). Full, genuine or sincere apologies comprise several components. However, the fact that full apologies are not as common as partial ones (see e.g., Dhami 2012, 2016) suggests that we need to better understand how people perceive partial apologies. In particular, do people associate specific components of an apology that are communicated with other components which are not explicitly stated? In other words, is there an implicit association among specific components of apology in people's minds?

The present study examined how specific components of an apology that constitute a partial apology may imply other components which have not been explicitly communicated. In doing so, the present study also attempted to overcome some of the limitations of past research on apology. In particular, the small body of social psychological research employing experimental designs to study apology has not examined all five components of apology in one study, and has not examined the relations among all of these components, as is done in the present study. Several findings emerged from the present study. Although it is difficult to directly compare the present study with past studies due to differences in focus, methods and analyses, the present findings are broadly consistent with past findings (Trosborg 1987, Scher and Darley 1997, Gold and Weiner 2000, Robbennolt 2003, Schmitt *et al.* 2004).

When comparing across types of partial apology (i.e., those where the apologizer accepts responsibility, acknowledges harm, expresses remorse, offers reparation, and promises forbearance), the present study revealed that there was no statistically significant difference in the extent to which uncommunicated components of apology were implied by different types of partial apology. This idea is compatible with evidence showing no significant association between the acceptance of an apology and its fullness measured in terms of the number of components present (Dhami 2012). A partial apology may not necessarily lack the power to stimulate a meaningful resolution between conflicting parties, as is often the concern (Taft 2000, Latif 2001) because a partial apology may not be perceived as such.

When examining each type of partial apology separately, the present study found that a partial apology comprising the acceptance of responsibility implied the uncommunicated components of apology (i.e., acknowledgement of harm, expression of remorse, offer of reparation, and promise of forbearance) to the same extent. By contrast, the other four types of partial apology implied the uncommunicated components to significantly different extents. It was found that the acceptance of responsibility was more implied a greater extent than some of the other uncommunicated components of apology when the partial apology comprised the acknowledgment of harm, the expression of remorse, the offer of reparation and the promise of forbearance. This suggests that a partial apology may be equivalent to the acceptance of responsibility.

It was also found that a partial apology involving either an acknowledgment of harm or offer of reparation implied the promise of forbearance to a lesser extent than some other components i.e., the acceptance of responsibility and expression of remorse. It could be argued that the promise of forbearance may be less likely to contribute to the effectiveness of victim-offender mediation or restorative justice practices for two reasons. One reason is that this component of apology is less commonly communicated than other components such as the acknowledgment of harm or acceptance of responsibility (Blecher 2011, Dhami 2012). The other reason is that the promise of forbearance is less likely to be implicit in these other more commonly communicated components of apology. In addition, a partial apology involving the expression of remorse or promise of forbearance implied the acceptance of responsibility to a greater extent than some other components i.e., the acknowledgment of harm and offer of reparation. This supports the concern that some in the legal profession have about offenders or plaintiffs expressing remorse because it may be used as an acceptance of responsibility (e.g., Tyler 1997).

The present findings have potential implications for the development of models of apology that attempt to delineate the relationship between specific components of apology and the meaning being communicated. For instance, according to Slocum et al. (2011) the components of apology correspond to one or more of three distinct responses, namely affect, affirmation and action, that each reflect a degree of the apologizer's focus on the self-versus other. Expressing regret and remorse are considered to be affective responses that focus on the self and other, respectively (see also Allan 2008). The acceptance of responsibility and acknowledgement of harm are claimed to be both affirmative reactions that focus on the self and other, respectively. Finally, it is stated that the offer of reparation refers to an action that focuses on the other. The present findings suggest that by conceptualizing apology in terms of the components that are explicitly communicated and excluding the implicit associations among them and the unstated components, models of apology may oversimply the meaning people attach to apologies. In addition, attempts to de-confound (at least some) components of apology also renders models of apology potentially unrepresentative of how people think about apology i.e., lacking in external validity (Dhami et al. 2004).

5.1. Strengths, limitations and directions for future research

Some past apology researchers have preferred to use naturalistic data (see Meier 1998). However, such data do not enable systematic investigation of the components of apology in the manner that the experimental method used in the present study does. The present method, nevertheless, has potential limitations. One is the way in which partial apology was operationalized. It could be argued that saying that an offender 'feels bad for what they have done' might refer to feelings of regret or even shame rather than remorse. Similarly, saying that an offender 'admits that they've done something wrong' may not necessarily refer to taking responsibility. The fact is that there is no consensus among the research community on how specific components of apology should be operationalised, and so future research ought to consider alternative approaches.

Another potential limitation is the lack of a context used in the present study for the offer of a partial apology and its perception. Indeed, there was no person receiving a partial apology. Future research ought to consider the generalizability of the present findings to contexts in which mediations occur, for example the criminal and civil law settings (e.g., Poulson 2003), as well as non-legal settings such as the medical domain (e.g., Bismark 2009).

Past research has been criticized for being largely based on White university student samples (Meier 1998). By contrast, the present study involved a non-university sample of young people who ranged in ethnicity, education level, employment status and past experience with crime and victimization. It remains to be seen, however, how the existing findings generalize to older (and younger) samples.

Further research should explore the boundary conditions for the present findings. For instance, a partial apology may be given in response to different levels of harm committed. A partial apology may be the result of social pressure instead of being wholly voluntary, it may be offered soon after a wrongdoing or much later, and it may be communicated directly or indirectly (e.g., in written form). The degree to which the present findings replicate under different conditions needs to be established.

The present study demonstrated that partial apologies imply components of apology that were not explicitly communicated. Future research ought to investigate whether the apologizer intends the receiver to extract other meanings from a partial apology. If so, then it may also be worth studying why apologizers might prefer to offer some types of partial apologies over other types, especially since past research suggests that the fullness of an apology is related to the type of offence, age of receiver and gender of the apologizer (Dhami 2012). For instance, some types of partial apology may be considered to be less humiliating or more socially acceptable than others (Levi 1997).

Finally, future research could examine the effects of different types of partial apology. Although there is a growing body of research on the effects of apologies in terms of their psychological, emotional and behavioral benefits (e.g., Robbennolt 2003, Skarlicki *et al.* 2004, Risen and Gilovich 2007, Wooten 2009), such research does not systematically vary the nature of apology. If partial apologies do communicate a broad set of meanings, whether intended or not, then one might predict their effects to be similar to that observed for full apologies.

An earlier study by Scher and Darley (1997) found that perceptions of the appropriateness of an apology were greater when the apology contained only one component than when it comprised more components. Thus, future research could also examine whether there is a 'backfire' or reduced effect in terms of the benefits that can be gleaned by offering a fuller apology. Is this effect dependent on the number of components in the apology or the type of components in the apology?

In sum, the offer of an apology is an expressive social interaction used to resolve conflicts. It is believed that effective apologies should be full or contain multiple components (Goffman 1971). However, sometimes, as Latif (2001) argues, a partial apology is all that is needed. The present findings suggest that the seeming effectiveness of a partial apology may be partly explained by the fact that it communicates much more than what is explicitly stated by the apologizer.

References

- Allan, A., 2008. Functional apologies in law. *Psychiatry, psychology and law*, 15 (3), 369-381.
- Alberstein, M., *et al.*, 2007. Saying "I'm sorry": the role of apology in public health. *Journal of law, medicine & ethics*, 35 (s4), 132-134.
- Bennett, M., and Earwaker, D., 1994. Victims' responses to apologies: the effects of offender responsibility and offense severity. *The journal of social psychology*, 134 (4), 457-464.
- Blecher, N.J., 2011. Sorry justice: apology in Australian family group conferencing. *Psychiatry, psychology, and law,* 18 (1), 95–116.
- Bismark, M.M., 2009. The power of apology. *New Zealand medical journal*, 122 (1304), 96-106.
- Bornstein, B.H., Rung, L.M., and Miller, M.K., 2002. The effects of defendant remorse on mock juror decisions in a malpractice case. *Behavioural Sciences and the Law* [online], 20 (4), 393–409. Available from: http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/psychfacpub/187 [Accessed 10 August 2017].
- Choi, J.J., and Severson, M., 2009. "What! What kind of apology is this?": the nature of apology in victim offender mediation. *Children and youth services review*, 31 (7), 813-820.
- Dhami, M.K., 2012. Offer and acceptance of apology in victim-offender mediation. *Critical criminology: An international journal*, 20 (1), 45-60.

- Dhami, M.K., 2016. Apology in victim-offender mediation. *Contemporary justice review*, 19 (1), 31-42. DOI: 10.1080/10282580.2015.1101686
- Dhami, M.K., Hertwig, R., and Hoffrage, U., 2004. The role of representative design in an ecological approach to cognition. *Psychological Bulletin*, 130 (6), 959-988.
- Fehr, R., and Gelfand, M.J., 2010. When apologies work: how matching apology components to victims' self-construals facilitates forgiveness. *Organisational behavior and human decision processes*, 113 (1), 37-50.
- Fuchs-Burnett, T., 2002. Mass public corporate apology. *Dispute resolution journal*, 57 (2), 27-32/82-86.
- Fukuno, M., and Ohbuchi, K., 1998. How effective are different accounts of harmdoing in softening victims' reactions? A scenario investigation of the effects of severity, relationship, and culture. *Asian journal of social psychology*, 1 (2), 167-178.
- Goffman, E., 1971. *Relations in public: Microstudies of the public order*. London: Allen Lane The Penguin Press.
- Gold, G.J., and Weiner, B., 2000. Remorse, confession, group identity, and expectancies about repeating a transgression. *Basic and applied social psychology*, 22 (4), 291-300.
- Govier, T., and Verwoerd, W., 2002. The promise and pitfalls of apology. *Journal of social philosophy*, 33 (1), 67-82.
- Hodgins, H.S., and Liebeskind, E., 2003. Apology versus defence: antecedents and consequences. *Journal of experimental social psychology*, 39 (4), 297-316.
- Landman, J., 2001. The limits of reconciliation: the story of a perpetrator, Katherine Ann Power. *Social justice research*, 14 (2), 171-188.
- Latif, E., 2001. Apologetic justice: evaluating apologies tailored toward legal solutions. *Boston university law review*, 81 (1), 289-320.
- Levi, D.L., 1997. The role of apology in mediation. *New York University Law Review*, 72, 1165-1210.
- McCullough, M.E., Worthington, E.L., and Rachal, K.C., 1997. Interpersonal forgiving in close relationships. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 73 (2), 321-336.
- Meier, A.J., 1998. Apologies: what do we know? *International journal of applied linguistics*, 8 (2), 215-231.
- O'Hara, E.A., and Yarn, D., 2002. On apology and consilience. *Washington law review*, 77 (4), 1121-1192.
- Ohbuchi, K., Kameda, M., and Agarie, N., 1989. Apology as aggression control: its role in mediating appraisal of and response to harm. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 56 (2), 219-227.
- Pace, K.M., Fediuk, T.A., and Botero, I.C., 2010. The acceptance of responsibility and expressions of regret in organizational apologies after a transgression. *Corporate communications: An international journal*, 15 (4), 410-427.
- Petrucci, C.J., 2002. Apology in the criminal justice setting: evidence for including apology as an additional component in the legal system. *Behavioral sciences and the law*, 20 (4), 337-362.
- Poulson, B., 2003. A third voice: a review of empirical research on the psychological outcomes of restorative justice. *Utah law review*, 1, 167-203.

- Risen, J.L., and Gilovich, T., 2007. Target and observer differences in the acceptance of questionable apologies. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 92 (3), 418-433.
- Robbennolt, J.K., 2003. Apologies and legal settlement: an empirical examination. *Michigan law review*, 102 (3), 460-516.
- Scher, S.J., and Darley, J.M., 1997. How effective are the things people say to apologize? Effects of the realization of the apology speech act. *Journal of psycholinguistic research*, 26 (1), 127-140.
- Schlenker, B.R., and Darby, B.W., 1981. The use of apologies in social predicaments. *Social psychology quarterly*, 44 (3), 271-278.
- Schmitt, M., *et al.*, 2004. Effects of objective and subject account components on forgiving. *The journal of social psychology*, 144 (5), 465-485.
- Shapland, J., et al., 2007. Restorative justice: The views of victims and offenders. The third report from the evaluation of three schemes [online]. London: Ministry of Justice. Available from: <u>http://www.restorativejusticescotland.org.uk/Restorative-Justice.pdf</u> [Accessed 7 August 2017].
- Sherman, L.W., et al., 2005. Effects of face-to-face restorative justice on victims of crime in four randomized, controlled trials. *Journal of experimental* criminology, 1 (3), 367–395.
- Skarlicki, D.P., Folger, R., and Gee, J., 2004. When social accounts backfire: the exacerbating effects of a polite message or an apology on reactions to an unfair outcome. *Journal of applied social psychology*, 34 (2), 322-341.
- Slocum, D., Allan, A., and Allan, M.M., 2011. An emerging theory of apology. *Australian journal of psychology*, 63 (2), 83-92.
- Taft, L., 2000. Apology subverted: the commodification of apology. *The Yale Law Journal*, 109 (5), 1135-1160.
- Tavuchis, N., 1991. *Mea culpa: a sociology of apology and reconciliation*. Stanford University Press.
- Tomlinson, E.C., Dineen, B.R., and Lewicki, R.J., 2004. The road to reconciliation: antecedents of victim willingness to reconcile following a broken promise. *Journal of management*, 30 (2), 165-187.
- Trosborg, A., 1987. Apology strategies in natives/non-natives. *Journal of pragmatics*, 11 (2), 147-167.
- Tyler, L., 1997. Liability means never being able to say you're sorry. *Management communication quarterly*, 11 (1), 51-73.
- Wooten, D.B., 2009. Say the right thing: apologies, reputability, and punishment. *Journal of consumer psychology*, 19 (2), 225-235.